ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

SEP 19 2019

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Horry County

Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

RICKEY WADDELL WILSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-000146

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the court erred by ruling it did not have the discretion, where it had the discretion to assure appellant received a fundamentally fair trial, by excluding testimony from law enforcement officials that they watched the entire surveillance tape which they claimed revealed appellant was the last person to enter or leave the decedent's motel room on Saturday night before her body was discovered Sunday morning shortly after 11 am since the state allegedly "inadvertently destroyed" or "lost" 11-12 hours of critical videotape which showed the outside of the decedent's motel room from Saturday night until her body was discovered on Sunday morning in that motel room?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Horry County Grand Jury for the offense of murder. R. 638 – 639. His case was called to trial on January 22, 2018, before the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, and a jury. James Stanko and Eric Fox represented appellant. George DeBusk and Seth Oskin were the solicitors. R. 1.

On January 25, 2018, the jury found appellant guilty. R. 634, ll. 1-6. Judge Culbertson sentenced appellant to life imprisonment. R. 637, ll. 20-24.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 91, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011) (quoting State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id.; see also State v. Brockmeyer, 406 S.C. 324, 340, 751 S.E.2d 645, 653 (2013).

ARGUMENT

The court erred by ruling it did not have the discretion, where it did have the discretion, to assure appellant received a fundamentally fair trial, by excluding testimony from law enforcement officials that they watched the entire surveillance tape which they claimed revealed appellant was the last person to enter or leave the decedent's motel room on Saturday night before her body was discovered Sunday morning shortly after 11 am since the state allegedly "inadvertently destroyed" or "lost" 11-12 hours of critical videotape which showed the outside of the decedent's motel room from Saturday night until her body was discovered on Sunday morning in that motel room.

Relevant facts

Prior to trial, defense counsel Stanko told the judge that the state had obtained surveillance tape of the outside of the decedent's motel room at the Rodeway Inn. "And they watched from Friday, [May 20th, 2016] at about 3 p.m. all the way through until the morning of the 22nd [of May, 2016], [Sunday morning], at about 11 a.m. when the body is discovered. They downloaded the video, provided that to us. Come to find out that the actual video that was provided was Friday, 3 p.m. *through midnight on Saturday. There's 11 hours missing.* We have -- now, we do have a statement from the officer claiming that he did download it. And in their reports they do say that they watched it. *The problem here obviously being a large portion of this case turns upon what is on that video.* We have a couple of officers saying that they watched it. But we have not had an opportunity to see that. We don't know what it is that they saw beyond what they put in the record. He was not provided that in discovery. It simply no longer exists. For whatever reason, whether it was a download problem, it simply wasn't obtained from the hotel. Whatever it is, it's not there." R. 2, l. 10 – 3, l. 15. (emphasis added).

The defense requested that the judge exclude law enforcement testimony “as to what they saw on the portion of the video (11-12 hours) that we did not receive. We believe that, you know, whether one officer saw it or eight officers saw it, the fact remains, myself and the Defendant, we never had an opportunity [to see it].” R. 3, ll. 16-24. Defense counsel argued out of fundamental fairness law enforcement officers should not be allowed to testify they watched “something on the video that we were not provided.”¹ R. 3, l. 25 – 4, l. 8.

The solicitor argued that the original video tape was not required “and other evidence of the contents of a writing, recording, or photograph is admissible if all originals are lost or have been destroyed unless the proponent lost or destroyed them in bad faith.” The solicitor claimed “there was no bad faith involved,” but the videotape was lost, taped over, or inadvertently destroyed. R. 3, l. 25 – 7, l. 17. The judge said he thought the defense would have to prove bad faith but said he was taking the matter under advisement. R. 7, ll. 12-14.

The solicitor then cited State v. Halcomb, 382 S.C. 432, 676 S.E.2d 149 (Ct.App. 2009), which he said supported his position that the testimony about what was on the missing, destroyed, or taped over 11-12 hours of videotape should not be excluded. R. 7, l. 18 – 8, l. 20. In State v. Halcomb, 382 S.C. 432, 676 S.E.2d 149 (Ct.App. 2009) this Court held that the trial court erred in refusing to admit evidence of “co-defendant Cottrell’s letter to Counts [his girlfriend] in which Cottrell allegedly revealed a personal motive for murdering Love.” This Court agreed that the exclusion of that letter showing a motive for Cottrell to kill the decedent Love, that did not involve Halcomb was error, but that it was harmless error. State v. Halcomb, 382 S.C. 432, 443, 676 S.E.2d 149, 154 (2009). The trial judge in Halcomb, excluded the letter

¹ Management that owned the Rodeway Inn where the decedent stayed when she was murdered also owned the Day’s Inn. The surveillance camera at issue from the Day’s Inn was pointed at the Rodeway Inn and showed the outside of the decedent’s motel room making it critical evidence in this murder trial.

finding it was inadmissible under the best evidence rules, Rules 1001 – 1004, SCRE. However, this Court ruled that because bad faith was not shown in the destruction of the Cottrell to Amber Counts motive letter, that it should have been admitted. R. 8, l. 3 – 12, l. 6.

The trial judge here stated, “there is a difference between saying, here’s a letter that we lost, and saying, here’s the video that we just watched, we downloaded it for you and we’re producing it without even checking what you downloaded.” R. 8, l. 3 – 12, l. 6.

The solicitor responded: “I don’t have personal knowledge of cases where that says it’s inadmissible except under bad faith.” The solicitor also said, “I’m only concerned with ones that follow Rule 1004.” The solicitor repeated unless the defense could prove the prosecution here destroyed eleven or twelve hours of the surveillance tape in bad faith that the judge could not exclude the law enforcement testimony about what law enforcement claimed was on or not on the missing tape. R. 8, l. 3 – 12, l. 6.

Assistant solicitor Oskin said there were in reality there was closer to twelve hours of missing videotape from “midnight to noon,” Saturday night to Sunday morning. R. 12, l. 14 – 15, l. 17. The judge again repeated he would take the matter under advisement. The solicitor said the state contended – for convenient reason -- that the murder did not take place during the hours that were missing on the surveillance tape so, in the state’s view, it apparently did not matter. It claimed: “[N]o one else went in or out of the room during that (missing videotape) time until the body was discovered by housekeeping, or by hotel staff.” R. 15, ll. 15-22.

The following day, the judge, citing State v. Cheeseboro, 346 S.C. 526, 552 S.E.2d 300 (2001), ruled that the state had the right to proceed with testimony about what allegedly was on the destroyed or lost videotape unless it could be shown that “the state did destroy the evidence

or lost it in bad faith, or that the evidence possessed an exculpatory value. I mean, I agree, that's burden shifting to me, but the appellate decisions are what they are." R. 18, ll. 5-16.

Defense counsel Stanko replied that "the failure of the state to preserve that twelve hours' worth of video is denying Mr. Wilson the right to a fundamentally fair trial. He simply cannot get that video any other way. The only way that we could have gotten the video to begin with was from the state. They did not -- they simply did not preserve that." The defense admitted that it could not prove bad faith, but argued that fundamental fairness and appellant's right to a fair trial dictated that the state should not be allowed to offer testimony during its case as to what allegedly occurred on the eleven to twelve hours of missing videotape that they allegedly watched and they then destroyed or lost. R. 18, l. 5 – 20, l. 9.

The judge responded, "Mr. Stanko, I agree with you 100 percent, but the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals doesn't. That's where I am in this juncture. I've got to follow the appellate decisions." R. 20, l. 10 – 21, l. 8.

The judge offered that he thought he had discretion as far as a jury charge on "spoliation of evidence" at the close of the trial, but that the appellate decisions mandated that he could not grant the defense's requested relief to exclude law enforcement testimony about what was allegedly on the missing videotape. R. 20, l. 10 – 21, l. 8.

In appellant's statement to the police, where he was not told the decedent had been murdered, he told the police he met the elderly decedent – she was in her eighties and appellant was in his late sixties – on a city bus. He helped the "bag lady" like decedent check into the Rodeway motel on Friday. Appellant came back to the motel on Saturday and he assisted the decedent with moving from the third floor room to the second floor room because the decedent

did not like heights. The decedent was fine when appellant left her on Saturday in her motel room, Room 211. Appellant's statement, State's exhibit 2, is on file with this Court.

Detective Peter Woods of the Myrtle Beach Police Department investigated this homicide at the Rodeway Inn, where the decedent's body was discovered by motel staff on Sunday morning, May 22, 2016 about 11:15, after she did not check out at 11:00. Her body was found fully clothed in the bathtub with the water running.² R. 97, l. 9 – 100, l. 20.

Woods said that he watched most of the surveillance tape "of Saturday, Saturday day into Sunday morning." R. 100, l. 5 – 104, l. 11. Woods claimed on Sunday morning, "I saw video at the hotel of housekeeping going in [the room] and then the police arriving later on that Sunday morning." R. 103, l. 25 – 111, l. 8. Woods said on redirect examination that from the time appellant left the decedent's motel room at about 8 o'clock on Saturday night, until housekeeping went into that motel room on Sunday morning, he was certain that no one except appellant entered that room. R. 113, l. 3 – 115, l. 20.

After Woods' testimony, the defense told the judge they wanted to ensure that they renewed their objection "to anyone being able to testify about the video that began from midnight [Saturday night] onward." The judge responded he understood the defense motion in limine to exclude that testimony, and that he ruled against the defense. The judge told defense counsel that their objection in this regard was preserved. R. 119, l. 5 – 120, l. 6.

The defense noted that they could either renew their objection with each subsequent witness or that the objection could carry forward "through each of those witnesses, whichever way you would prefer, sir." The judge responded that he assumed the defense objection was on

² Dr. Proctor, the pathologist, testified that the decedent had suffered blunt force trauma to her face, and she had been strangled. She had not been sexually assaulted. R. 228; R. 232; R. 235; R. 344:

the same grounds that it had earlier argued. Defense counsel confirmed it was “the exact same objection for each one of them.” The judge repeated that that objection had been overruled, and it remained overruled. R. 119, l. 5 – 120, l. 6. The judge’s assurances to defense counsel in this regard preserved the defense’s objection to state witness testimony about what was allegedly seen on the destroyed, lost, or missing 11-12 hours of surveillance tape.

James Barfield, who installed and was responsible for the cameras at the Rodeway Inn and the Days Inn Hotel next door, had a lengthy criminal record, and even a pending drug charge when he testified as a state’s witness. Barfield testified that he also watched the tape – out of curiosity – and he maintained that no one other than appellant entered the decedent’s motel room, Room 211 at the Rodeway Inn, between Saturday night and the decedent’s body being found on Sunday morning. R. 128, l. 12 – 129, l. 20; R. 131, ll. 7-21; R. 134, ll. 2-5.

SLED agent Jade Roy testified that he downloaded the videotape on the morning of Monday, May 23, 2016 “to our network drive at the police annex onto our computer system.” Roy said that no one checked to be sure that the video had been properly downloaded. R. 172, l. 7 – 175, l. 19.

Roy testified he had watched the tape on more than one occasion and repeated that appellant was the only person who came or left the decedent’s motel room from Saturday night at 8:06 until the decedent’s body was discovered on Sunday morning. R. 175, l. 20 – 176, l. 5; R. 170, ll. 2-11.³

³ Myrtle Beach police evidence custodian Malinda Shadone testified that the videotape from the Days Inn or the Rodeway Inn did not show up on her list of exhibits. Shadone said she did have the DVD of hotel footage for Victory Motel [appellant’s motel room], but no record of the “thumb drive or anything” regarding the videotape of the Rodeway Inn in question. R. 313, l. 11 – 318, l. 4.

Investigator Tiffany Whitmire also testified she watched the entire videotape and that appellant entered the motel room at 7:21 on Saturday evening and left at 8:06 on Saturday evening. Whitmire also maintained that no one else entered the motel room from midnight on Saturday night until the staff of the motel entered the room on Sunday morning. R. 474, l. 20 – 475, l. 25.

Loud bang evidence

Whitmire admitted on cross-examination that she talked with one witness who told her about hearing a “loud bang” in the early morning hours of Sunday before the decedent’s body was found. This witness was right next door or one room down from the decedent’s motel room, Room 211. However, Whitmire said she did not think the evidence about the loud bang was pertinent because she did not see anything on the [missing] videotape “to correspond with that during the timeframe.”⁴ R. 529, l. 4 – 530, l. 2.

Whitmire testified she did not know what happened to the thumb drive that the videotape was allegedly placed on during the investigation. She said, “[W]e recycle our thumb drives and use them to transmit cases and to pick up video evidence from different scenes.” However, she

⁴ The state presented evidence of actions it alleged make appellant appear suspicious in this case. Appellant apparently returned to his motel room at one point not wearing a shirt or his shoes or carrying a bag he previously had with him. However, none of the decedent’s DNA was found on appellant’s clothes. There was a 1-900 chance appellant’s DNA was mixed on a towel inside the decedent’s motel room but even the solicitor – “I don’t want to be gross” – admittedly downplayed the cleanliness of beach towels particularly at this motel. Appellant left his sunglasses behind in the decedent’s room, and the state alleged he took a “long way” walk home from the Rodeway motel to his motel on one occasion. The decedent’s friend, Irene Miller, from the Sunrise Motel, spoke with appellant on the phone and she testified appellant appeared “overly interested” in the decedent, her monthly check from the government, and that she told appellant to leave the decedent alone. If the decedent was missing property after she was murdered none of it was traced to appellant. Further, the jury later returned for a further definition of “circumstantial doubt” during its over three hours of deliberations – 4:49 p.m. until 7:54 p.m. -- further evidencing this circumstantial case was a difficult one for the jury. R. 415 - 437; r. 377-383; r. 506; r. 509; r. 512; r. 516; r. 628-632.

claimed, “We make sure that our thumb drives are emptied before we put anything new on them.” R. 542, l. 11 – 543, l. 3.

Closing arguments

In his closing argument, the solicitor referenced the videotape and argued that appellant was the only man who entered the motel room until the decedent’s body was found. “Find him guilty because he is guilty.” R. 595, ll. 14-19.

The defense argued that the state allegedly lost the videotape and that they were now asking the jury to “trust us, we watched it. That’s good enough.” R. 603, ll. 9-15. Defense counsel argued that while appellant changing his clothes and the fact appellant allegedly took a different path away from the motel room on one occasion may look suspicious to the jurors, that the state had not proven appellant’s guilt beyond suspicion. R. 604, l. 14 – 605, l. 20.

Discussion

The solicitor argued that under the best evidence rules that the law enforcement testimony about the contents of the destroyed or lost videotape in this case could not be excluded unless the defense proved bad faith. However, Rule 1004 states, “The original is not required, and other evidence of the contents of a writing, recording, or photograph is admissible if all originals are lost or have been destroyed, unless the proponent lost or destroyed them in bad faith.” The law enforcement claims about what allegedly occurred on the material 11-12 hours of missing videotape in a murder case do not appear to be what Rule 1004 envisioned as “other evidence” when the original was lost or destroyed. Cf. Pee Dee Production Credit Ass’n v. Joye, 284 S.X. 371, 326 S.E.2d 650 (1984) (judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting a xerox of a note in a deficiency case where the original note disappeared after the foreclosure hearing).

Windham v. Lloyd, 253 S.C. 568, 172 S.E.2d 117(1970) (photostatic copy of deed was not admissible on ground that it was not available, lost, or destroyed).

The solicitor cited State v. Halcomb, 382 S.C. 432, 676 S.E.2d 149 (Ct. App. 2009) in support of his position that other evidence about the contents of missing videotape was admissible absent proof of bad faith. Halcomb held that the trial court erred in refusing to admit testimony from Amber Counts, co-defendant Cottrell's girlfriend, that Cottrell revealed a personal motive to murder the decedent on his own, without the assistance of Halcomb, in a letter to her. The letter could not be located. This letter was exculpatory of Halcomb and inculpatory of Cottrell during their joint trial. Halcomb also said this testimony about the contents of the letter supported his argument that he was entitled to a severance of his trial from Cottrell's trial.

This Court found that this error was harmless given other overwhelming evidence of Halcomb's guilt. This Court in Halcomb noted that the admission of evidence under "the best evidence rule," was also addressed to the discretion of the trial court, but that the judge erred in refusing to admit the Cottrell to Counts letter in the Halcomb case. See, Wayne Smith Construction Company, Inc. v. Wolman, Duberstein, & Thompson, 294 S.C. 140, 146, 343 S.E.2d 115, 118 (Ct. App. 1987). This Court in Halcomb only held that the judge erred in excluding the Cottrell to Counts letter under the best evidence rule since there was no evidence the original letter was destroyed in bad faith.

The judge here initially agreed with the defense that the letter in Halcomb was a much different situation than the eleven or twelve hours of destroyed or missing videotape in this case that the state wanted to use as a sword against appellant where law enforcement members would testify that they had viewed the 11-12 hours of missing tape, and that tape conclusively showed

proved no one but appellant entered or left the decedent's motel room except appellant during that critical time.

The judge also relied on State v. Cheeseboro, 346 S.C. 526, 552 S.E.2d 300 (2001), and ruled he did not have the discretion to exclude the videotape in this case. In Cheeseboro, the defendant argued that the indictments against him should be dismissed or evidence regarding the murder weapon suppressed because the gun was destroyed before the defense could examine it. The Court found no error in the trial judge's ruling not to dismiss the indictments or allowing other testimony about the gun. The Court noted that the state did not have an absolute duty to preserve a potentially useful piece of evidence that might exonerate a defendant. *Citing Arizona v. Youngblood*, 488 U.S. 51 (1988).

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