**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Horry County  
The Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2018-000146

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

RICKEY WADDELL WILSON,

Appellant.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III  
Senior Assistant Attorney General

P. O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6305

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON  
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit  
Post Office Box 1276  
Conway, SC 29526  
(843) 915-5460

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

His argument that “the court erred by ruling it did not have discretion, where it had the discretion to assure appellant received [a] fundamentally fair trial” takes the trial judge’s comments out of context. The trial judge did not say that he did not have discretion to grant the motion to suppress if Appellant had met the standard established by *Cheeseboro* and *Breeze*. Instead, he

---

<sup>18</sup> “[E]vidence is material ‘if there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different.’ *Strickler v. Greene*, 527 U.S. 263, 280-81 (1999) (citation omitted). Further, “the materiality inquiry is ... whether ‘the favorable evidence could reasonably be taken to put the case in such a different light as to undermine confidence in the verdict.’ *Id.* at 290 (citation omitted).

stated that he had to follow the law as established by this Court and the South Carolina Supreme Court, even though he disagrees with those decisions. *See R. 17; 20-21*. His comments reflect a correct understanding of the law.

Also, the prosecution disclosed to the defense the portion of the video that was in its possession prior to trial. The disclosed portion of surveillance video included the relevant time period from when the victim checked into Room 211 until midnight on May 22<sup>nd</sup>, or four hours after the prosecution theorized she was murdered. And, Appellant fully cross-examined the three police officers who had watched the entire, original video concerning whether the missing portion of the video depicted anyone entering or leaving Room 211 from midnight until 10:00 a.m. on May 22<sup>nd</sup>, the manner in which the officers had viewed the video, as well as how the missing portion was lost and why it was not presented to the defense.

Therefore, he "has failed to establish that police had reason to expect that the alleged evidence would play a significant role in [his] defense" when the evidence was lost or destroyed. *Hutton*, 358 S.C. at 63 1-32, 595 S.E.2d at 882. *See also Trombetta*, 467 U.S. at 488 ("Whatever duty the Constitution imposes on the States to preserve evidence, that duty must be limited to evidence that might be expected to play a significant role in the suspect's defense"); *Cheeseboro*, 346 S.C. at 539, 552 S.E.2d at 307. Similarly, his cross-examination of the officers and closing argument based thereon provided him with more than "other evidence of comparable value," *id.* at 538, 552 S.E.2d at 307." *Hutton*, 358 S.C. at 631, 595 S.E.2d at 881, since the only evidence presented at trial was the missing segment of video reflected that no one entered Rom 211 from midnight on the 22<sup>nd</sup> until hotel staff entered later that morning and discovered the victim's body.

Appellant's cross-examination of Det. Woods established that the Days Inn clerk told him that everything had downloaded onto the thumb drive. Yet, while he could see the portion of video

that originally downloaded onto a thumb drive, "it somehow was not downloading and the system would cut back. The video I saw consistently was from the 5 p.m. Saturday to 6 a.m. Sunday." Still, he had seen video at the hotel of hotel staff going into the room and police arriving later that morning. When he watched the video at the hotel, "[m]ost of it was on fast forward. *R. 104*. Also, he only watched from 6:00 p.m. on the 21<sup>st</sup> until 6:00 a.m. at the Days Inn. *R. 104-05*.

Moreover, Det. Woods testified that the thumb drive contained all of the video "from that first night." Yet, when he played it at the police annex, "it wasn't consistent. ... [T]here was something, I can't understand what it was, which led me to go back and ... take the whole DVR because the thumb drive ... seemed to be jumping for -- I don't have the technical background to tell you why." This was when he first learned that there was a problem with the video. *R. 105; 108*.

He then returned to the Days Inn, retrieved the hotel's DVR, took it back to the annex, and secured it on Det. Whitmire's desk. He also "let it be known that it needed to go to crime scene first thing in the morning." He did not know what subsequently happened to the video. *R. 108-09*. Det. Woods again testified that in watching the entire video, Appellant was the only person he observed going into Room 211. This was at 7:21 p.m. on the 21<sup>st</sup>. Appellant left the room roughly forty-five minutes later, at 8:06 p.m. He "just came out of the room and walked," and Det. Woods thought that he was carrying something in his hand but was uncertain as to what he was carrying. *R. 110-12*.

Det. Woods conceded that he was unaware of any video showing after 6:00 a.m. on Sunday at the time of trial. *R. 106*. He had watched thirteen hours of video at the police annex in real time (from 5:00 p.m. on the 21<sup>st</sup> until 6:00 a.m. on the 22<sup>nd</sup>), and testified that Appellant had walked

from the stairwell to the victim's room "at a leisurely pace" Saturday night. This would only take a few seconds on the video. *R. 106-07.*

On cross-examination of Det. Roy, Appellant elicited that Det. Roy did not watch any of the surveillance video while he was at the Days Inn. He later watched it after it was downloaded by another officer. The thumb drive that contained the missing video was supposed to be downloaded onto the Police Department annex's network drive, and the thumb drive would then be placed into evidence. He had no explanation for what happened to the thumb drive. Det. Roy conceded that the only video now in existence stops at midnight on the 21<sup>st</sup>. *R. 188-90.*

Further, Appellant elicited that (1) Det. Roy had been an officer for roughly seven years and an investigator for three years; (2) included in the training that he had received as an investigator was the importance of safeguarding and securing evidence because of how important this could be in a trial; and (3) how, without secured evidence, a jury could potentially not get a complete picture of the case. Appellant also established that police have the duty to disclose all of the evidence they have, whether it is important or not. However, a "significant amount" of video in this case, twelve hours of it, was not disclosed. *R. 190-91; 195-96.*

When asked if the jury was not able to view the entire video because of his or Det. Woods' negligence, Det. Roy conceded that "[h]uman error was made." *R. 197.* Det. Roy watched the video at Det. Woods' desk on Det. Woods' computer. He did not recall how long it took him to watch all of the video, but he admitted that he fast-forwarded through the portions of the video in which Appellant was not present, and he only watched the portions of the video that showed Appellant entering or leaving Room 211 at normal speed. *R. 191-95.*

Appellant's cross-examination of Det. Whitmire established that Det. Whitmire interviewed a woman staying "one room down" from Room 211 and that this woman indicated

that she had heard “a loud bang in the early hours of the morning.” However, Det. Whitmire did not think this was pertinent information after viewing the missing video. Asked why the jury did not have this portion of the video, she replied, “I honestly don't know. All I can say is that what I testified to, it was plugged into that computer, I thought it downloaded, I did not know until later it didn't, and I take full responsibility as the lead officer for it not being there.” *R. 529; 544.*

Further, she testified that the video “was in Detective Woods' desk. Detective Roy was downloading the video.” Appellant elicited that Det. Whitmire was not present when the video was downloaded. Also, one of her reports stated that the footage was downloaded directly off the system by Corporal Cozene, but she explained that she had been advised that he was originally supposed to be the officer to download it. He thereafter delegated that responsibility to Det. Roy. She wrote that report because when Corporal Cozene “sent me a request to return the DNA because it was finished. So at that time I thought he had finished the downloading that Detective Roy had started. So that was my fault.” *R. 529-53; 540-42.*

Det. Whitmire admitted that she had a duty to protect and carefully preserve evidence for any defendant because the State would be relying on this evidence as are victims of crime and their families. *R. 543-44.* Also, it would avoid situations like the one in this case. *R. 526-27.* When Appellant asked if the jury had the evidence, she replied, “I wish we did, but no, you are correct.” She likewise conceded that the evidence was important. *R. 544-45.*

Appellant likewise elicited that she did not mention in any of her reports that there had been any problems with the download, including Det. Woods' complaint that the video would “jump back” when it reached 6:00 a.m. because Det. Woods did not mention this to her and she was not aware of the problems. She transmitted the file to the Solicitor's Office on June 21, 2016, and did not discover the problems Det. Woods had or that any of the video was missing until “long

after” she wrote her reports, when notified of this by the Solicitor’s Office several months later when she was at home. “And I told them at that time that I provided everything I had and that I provided that video because at that time I believed that I did. I had watched it. I believed I did.”**R. 531-533.**

The next morning, however, she opened the file on the computer and realized this segment of video was not there. She then searched all of the computer files related to the case but the video was not in any of those files. **R. 533-534.** She conceded that Appellant was a suspect before she watched the video and that the video was merely evidence confirming what detectives suspected because he had left his identifying information at the Rodeway Inn and could be identified by the clerk there, Ronnie Evans. **R. 535-36.**

Det. Whitmire further admitted that the video from the surveillance cameras in the City of Myrtle Beach likewise did not exist at the time of trial. She explained that:

Detective, he's now a sergeant, Amick was delegated to download the Milestone Video. It was a newer system at that time. It's an Internet based. And what we do is we go into that system, and we set the times to download and leave it to download, and it puts it into a folder. It generates a main folder that's called Milestone. .... And then the footage goes into there. .... That footage error-ed out. ... I can't tell you why, if it was connectivity, if it was -- it was a newer system. And we still have that problem with that system to this day. But at that time it was a newer system, and we weren't aware of that. And it was -- yes, sir.

**R. 537, line 11 – 538, line 1.**

Appellant even cross-examined Det. Doug Furlong, who had not viewed the missing video, as to the proper procedure for securing video, and he admitted that:

we could have possibly tried to confirm that that video had transferred over. But at that time, we were going in so many different directions that obviously -- and I hate that that occurred. It's something that we spent a lot of time searching for, but ....

**R. 208-09.**

The missing video was one of the key points, if not the centerpiece,<sup>19</sup> of Appellant's effective, albeit relatively brief, closing argument:

When you break their case down, that's all they have really fully proven to you, Rickey Wilson was there.

Now, you've heard multiple officers talk to you about a video, video that they downloaded from the hotel next door, from the Days Inn. It was their job, get this video, safeguard it, make sure that they would be able to bring it to court.

What were they actually able to give you. That video stops 1 a.m., ten hours before the body is actually discovered. They don't let you make that decision for you, decision on your own. They lost that video and they want you to just say, well, we don't have it, but trust us, we watched it. That's good enough.

You know, none of us are saying that the police are trying to frame Mr. Wilson, that's not the way we're characterizing this at all. We're not even saying that they lost this intentionally. But the fact of the matter is the State has to prove to you beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Wilson is guilty of murder. But all they've done is mishandle things from the get-go.

You've heard about missing items. The lock interrogation, missing, the Milestone video, missing. The final day the video from the Days Inn that would show whether anyone else went in or whether it was only Mr. Wilson, simply doesn't exist, missed it.

Now, as you heard Mr. Oskin say, think of things in terms of threes. Well, there's three right there, three missing items that would have given you a much clearer picture of how this case actually went down.

**R. 603, line 1 – 604, line 7.**

Therefore, the trial judge's ruling must be affirmed because it complied with both *Fisher* and relevant state court precedent, such as *Cheeseboro* and *Hutton*. Yet, even if the trial judge had erred, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *See State v. Sherard*, 303 S.C. 172, 175, 399 S.E.2d 595, 596 (1991) ("Error in a criminal prosecution is harmless when it could not

---

<sup>19</sup> Respondent submits that the characterization of "centerpiece" is fair, since Appellant informed jurors in his opening statement that police had failed to maintain any of the video after midnight and suggested that the testimony of witnesses as to what was on that missing video was not the same because jurors could not view it for themselves. **R. 33.**

reasonably have affected the result of the trial”); *State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (“When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result”). “Whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the particular case.” *State v. Tapp*, 376, 389, 728 S.E.2d 468, 475 (2012).

Here, any error must be viewed as harmless and non-prejudicial for several reasons. First, neither Appellant’s motion *in limine* nor his brief before this Court<sup>20</sup> contest to the admissibility of testimony from Mr. James Barfield, the Days Inn employee who had installed and was responsible for maintaining the cameras that provided surveillance of the Rodeway Inn and the Days Inn. Without objection, he testified that, out of curiosity, he had watched all of the video footage of the Rodeway Inn from the point when Appellant “first came on the property” up to the point when hotel staff found the victim. **R. 122-26; 128**. He specifically watched Room 211 and testified that no one went into or left Room 211 other than Appellant and the victim. **R. 129**.

Thus, the officers’ testimony about what they saw on the missing segment of surveillance video was merely cumulative to Mr. Barfield’s testimony, which was admitted without objection. The admission of improper evidence is harmless when the evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence. *See State v. Haselden*, 353 S.C. 190, 197, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448-49 (2003). *See also Schumpert*, 312 S.C. at 507, 435 S.E.2d at 862 (same); *State v. McFarlane*, 279 S.C. 327, 330, 306 S.E.2d 611, 613 (1983) (“It is well settled that the admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence”). Additionally, there was overwhelming evidence

---

<sup>20</sup> *See Smith v. Phillips*, 318 S.C. 453, 458 S.E.2d 427 (1995) (an appellate court generally will not address an issue unless the issue was raised to and ruled upon by the trial court); *State v. Williams*, 303 S.C. 410, 401 S.E.2d 168 (1991) (same). *See also* Rule 208(B)(1)(b), SCACR (“Ordinarily, no point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of the issues on appeal”).

of Appellant's guilt, such that the error complained of could not have affected the result of his trial. "Where 'guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached,' an insubstantial error that does not affect the result of the trial is considered harmless.'" *State v. Brown*, 424 S.C. 479, 493, 818 S.E.2d 735, 743 (2018) (quoting *State v. Byers*, 392 S.C. 438, 447, 710 S.E.2d 55, 60 (2011)).

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